
  
 

 

 
 

 

EAST HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a meeting of East Hertfordshire District 

Council will be held in the Council Chamber, Wallfields, Hertford on 

Thursday 18th January, 2024 at 7.00 pm, for the purpose of transacting 

the business set out in the Agenda below, and you are hereby 

summoned to attend. 

 

 

Date this 10 day of January 2024 

 

James Ellis 

Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services  

 

 

 

This meeting will be live streamed on the Council’s Youtube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict  

 

AGENDA 

 

1. Chairman's Announcements  

 

 To receive any announcements from the Chairman. 

 

2. Leader's Announcements  

 

 To receive any announcements from the Leader of the Council. 

 

3. Apologies for Absence  

 

 To receive any Members’ apologies for absence. 

 

4. Declarations of Interest  

 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict


 

 To receive any Members' declarations of interest. 

 

5. Hertford Theatre Options (Pages 4 - 46) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

 

A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, 

sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the 

Authority, with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to 

be considered or being considered at a meeting: 

 

• must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 

meeting; 

• must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 

meeting; 

• must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered or 

not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism Act 

2011;  

• if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a 

pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest within 28 days; 

• must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes place. 

Public Attendance 

 

East Herts Council welcomes public attendance at its meetings and 

meetings will continue to be live streamed and 

webcasted. For further information, please email 

democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk or call the Council on 01279 

655261 and ask to speak to Democratic Services.  
 

The Council operates a paperless policy in respect of agendas at 

committee meetings and the Council will no longer be providing 

spare copies of Agendas for the Public at Committee Meetings.  The 

mod.gov app is available to download for free from app stores for 

electronic devices. You can use the mod.gov app to access, annotate 

and keep all committee paperwork on your mobile device. 

Visit https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/35542/Political- 

Structure for details. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings 

 

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its 

Committees using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you think are 

suitable, which may include social media of any kind, such as 

tweeting, blogging or Facebook.  However, oral reporting or 

commentary is prohibited.  If you have any questions about this 

please contact Democratic Services (members of the press should 

contact the Press Office).  Please note that the Chairman of the 

meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of 

reasons, including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of 

the business being conducted.  Anyone filming a meeting should 

focus only on those actively participating and be sensitive to the 

rights of minors, vulnerable adults and those members of the public 

who have not consented to being filmed.   

 



1 
 

East Herts Council Report 

 

Council 

Date of meeting:  18 January 2024 

Report by:  Councillor Sarah Hopewell – Executive Member 

for Wellbeing 

Report title:   Hertford Theatre Development 

Ward(s) affected:  All Hertford wards 

 

Summary – East Herts Council’s Growth and Legacy project for the 

redesign and redevelopment of Hertford Theatre was first approved 

in July 2018.  The initial contract award in March 2022 was for 

£18,881,880. Since then, the project has encountered a series of 

budgetary challenges resulting from rising inflation, and 

unprecedented increase in costs to labour and materials leading to 

an increased budget position for the development, which last stood 

at £24,105,000. More recent cost verification has shown that the 

project is now expected to cost £30,200,000 to complete in its 

entirety. This report sets out the scenarios available to the council for 

the development.  

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR COUNCIL: 

a) To review the potential scenarios for the completion of 

Hertford Theatre, approving the recommended scenario 

and;  

b) To authorise any associated additional funding (£6,095,000 

to enable the completion of the Theatre development, as 

originally intended.) 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

1.0 Proposal(s) 

 

1.1 To increase the Hertford Theatre budget by an additional 

£6,095,000, allowing for the Theatre to be completed as 

originally intended. 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 The Hertford Theatre Growth and Legacy project was first 

approved in July 2018. The main drivers for the project were to 

develop an enhanced offer to the community with the 

introduction of additional cinema screens allowing first release 

film to be watched locally, along with an increase in seating 

capacity for the theatre from 400 to 550, a new 150-seat studio 

theatre to allow for increased access and participation, a café 

also serving the Castle grounds and an improved community 

offer to engage untapped audiences.  

 

2.2 The construction contract for Hertford Theatre was awarded to 

GPF Lewis (GPFL) in March 2022 to a value of £18,881,880. In 

April 2022, GPFL advised the council that due to unprecedented 

pressures on the supply chain and the increased cost of 

materials, they wanted to revise the tendered price. After 

several months of value engineering and descoping, the Project 

Board agreed to remove the Motte/Boardwalk, Studio-Theatre 

fit out and specialist technical loose fixtures and fittings from 

the contract, with a view to phasing it in later, whilst exploring 

other sources of funding.  

 

2.3 Further costs were identified after it was confirmed that the IT 

infrastructure and Facilities Management (FM) costs would not 

be covered corporately outside of the project budget 

Page 6



3 
 

amounting to some £400k. In addition to this, the original 

contingency of 4.9% proved insufficient in the light of the 

impact of Environment Agency permit delays and constraints, 

requiring an additional contingency of £245,000 to be added to 

the fund. 

 

2.4 External funding for the project was agreed through Hertford 

Town Council, who provisionally approved up to £325,000 of 

funding towards the development of the Studio element, 

subject to agreement to specific stipulations. A further request 

for an additional £150,000 funding from Hertford Town Council 

was rejected in July 2023.   

 

2.5 A successful bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the scoping of 

the Castle Park project has the potential to deliver the Motte 

walkway and Boardwalk if the council bids for and is successful 

in securing funds for the next bidding round (delivery phase).  

 

2.6 In May 2022, GPFL advised further difficulties in securing their 

supply chain against the tender price, resulting in a package re-

procurement. An amended JCT Design & Build Contract was 

agreed in August 2022 and executed in October 2022 for an 

increased value of £19.2 million. Since then, GPFL have issued 

an Extension of Time Request and issued their Final Account 

tracker, outlining their view of the final contract balance as of 

31st March 2023. This showed an additional increase to £22 

million. Bristow Consulting, the project cost consultants 

appointed by the council, were asked for their professional 

opinion in respect of the additional costs and they advised the 

council to continue works while agreeing a Guaranteed 

Maximum Price (GMP). 

Page 7



4 
 

2.7 In June 2023, the council met with Bristow Consulting and GPFL 

to address the concerns regarding increasing costs. GPFL were 

asked to review their GMP offer with a view to bringing it in line 

with Bristow Consulting’s view of the expected costs. GPFL 

submitted their amended GMP in July 2023, with a new total of 

£25.17 million. 

 

2.8 Bristow Consulting considered the offer and informed the 

council that they believed it to be unacceptable due to several 

inflated costs and spurious items listed. Based on their 

assessment, Bristow Consulting noted that they believed a fair 

offer would be in the region of £23.63 million. Since providing 

initial advice, Bristow Consulting conducted further assessment 

of costs and sought further advice. This resulted in the figure 

they believed to be acceptable being revised advising the 

council should seriously consider any offer up to the value of 

£24.5 million. 

 

2.9 The GPFL GMP offer of £25.17 million was rejected and GPFL 

were advised of the figure Bristow Consulting, at the time, 

believed to be fair - £23.63 million. In response to this, GPFL 

submitted a revised GMP offer in August 2023 of £24.43 million 

– within the revised cost envelope of £24.5 million advised by 

Bristow Consulting. 

 

2.10 A full cost review of non-construction costs was also 

undertaken in July 2023 which identified an additional shortfall 

in the budget of approximately £1.4 million. This was due 

unexpected increases in costs to non-construction packages 

since the original budget had been agreed. Non-construction 

costs are currently expected to be in the region of £5.5 million. 

Page 8



5 
 

There is a risk that these costs could increase further should 

any additional, unexpected cost increases be experienced. The 

items contained within the non-construction costs are detailed 

in appendix A. 

 

2.11 Officers have worked with GPFL and Bristow Consulting to 

explore all opportunities to reduce the final cost of the theatre 

project.  

 

2.12 Taking in to account the final GMP offer from GPFL, alongside 

the current estimate for non-construction costs, the total spend 

would come to approximately £30,200,000 – approximately £6 

million over the current budget. 

 

2.13 The increased cost in the GMP is largely due to an increase in 

the material and labour costs associated with construction. East 

Herts is not alone. These issues have been widely experienced 

with capital developments throughout the country, with 

notable examples in Manchester where the budget required for 

the Aviva Studios development almost doubled, and Kingston, 

where plans for a new leisure centre had to be revised due to 

budgetary pressures (Kingston.gov.uk, n.d.). Both council’s cited 

inflation and the rising costs of construction and labour as 

having a significant impact on the budgets to complete the 

developments. 

 

2.14 Following discussion with the Executive as well as our cost 

consultants and senior officers, it was agreed to ask GPFL to 

omit the Studio from the final GMP offer until further member 

agreement had been obtained.  

 

Page 9

https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s41311/Factory%20International%20Progress%20Update%20PART%20A.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s41311/Factory%20International%20Progress%20Update%20PART%20A.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s41311/Factory%20International%20Progress%20Update%20PART%20A.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s41311/Factory%20International%20Progress%20Update%20PART%20A.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s41311/Factory%20International%20Progress%20Update%20PART%20A.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s41311/Factory%20International%20Progress%20Update%20PART%20A.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s41311/Factory%20International%20Progress%20Update%20PART%20A.pdf


6 
 

2.15 Members of the Hertford Theatre Board have been involved in 

various discussions and scenarios around the project and views 

have been sought prior to any decision being taken. 

 

2.16 A full review of the Hertford Theatre business plan was 

undertaken in March 2023 by Barker Langham, who compiled 

the original and subsequent business cases. The updated 

business plan showed a completed Hertford Theatre would 

generate an annual surplus of at least £110k, with a £1.2 million 

surplus over 10 years. This business plan was reviewed and 

updated by the Head of Strategic Finance and Property in 

November 2023, to test various scenarios around completion of 

the theatre and the effects of not completing various 

elements.  The business planning also sought to establish the 

amount of borrowing that could be sustained while still 

ensuring the theatre could repay its borrowing costs and 

generate a minimum return of £500k annually on the council’s 

investment. 

 

2.17 As a result of this, modelling showed that with the full fit out 

and completion of the Theatre including the Studio, the Theatre 

could start to return an income to the Council by Year 2 

provided that the Council’s overall borrowing could be reduced 

by up to £6m. This reduction could be achieved through the 

sale of some EHDC assets. The Head of Strategic Finance and 

Property Officer holds a list of EHDC assets and approximate 

values. The exact assets need to be identified, verified and 

agreed by Members. 

 

2.18 Hertford Theatre recently received a £25K project award from 

Arts Council England to continue to develop “The Listening 

Page 10



7 
 

Project” as part of its Learning and Well-being offer. The project 

is financially supported by ACE (Arts Council England), Shared 

Prosperity Fund and Hertford Regional College. 

 

2.19 As well as working to deliver several key pilot events with local 

educational organisations, part of the aim of the project is to 

further understand models of governance for this part of the 

theatre’s work (specifically the Learning and Well-being offer) 

which, in turn, could facilitate the opportunity for further 

external funding to be accessed. This could help ensure the 

future, long-term life of this offer and potentially an expansion 

in years to come without seeking any further funding from the 

council. 

3.0 Reason(s) 

 

3.1    The Hertford Theatre redevelopment has encountered 

significant budgetary pressures due to inflation and 

unprecedented increases to costs of construction, materials 

and labour. As a result, an additional £6,095,000 funding is 

required to be able to complete the development as intended. 

This will allow the theatre to open fully, covering borrowing 

costs and allowing the council to begin making a return on its 

investment. 

4.0 Scenarios 

 

4.1    Accept the final GMP from GPFL and authorise an additional 

£6,095,000 of funding to allow the Hertford Theatre 

development to be completed as originally intended.  

 

RECOMMENDED as this is the only scenario that allows the 

Page 11



8 
 

theatre to maximise income and make a return on the council’s 

investment in future years. 

 

To ensure viability and to maximise income in future years, it is 

proposed that up to £6m worth of council assets are sold to 

reduce the council’s overall borrowing. Debt is a corporate cost 

and is not attributed to assets in the statement of accounts.  For 

the purposes of business planning debt costs can be considered 

to ensure that investment in assets do provide a return.  Whilst 

debt is a corporate cost, we do keep a record of which assets the 

debt is attributed to for the purposes of calculating Minimum 

Revenue Provision and for monitoring the performance of 

investments against their business plan.  The report on the 

Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan, which Council will 

consider on 28 February 2024, shows the importance of achieving 

the minimum £6 million in capital receipts from asset sales to the 

council remaining financially sustainable.  The report suggests 

further asset sales of £4.6 million to fund the capital programme 

and avoid borrowing in the future. 

 

By reducing the borrowing hypothecated to the theatre by the £6 

million and further reducing the overall borrowing total for the 

council by applying accumulated Minimum Revenue 

Provision,  borrowing costs will fall sufficiently for the Theatre 

project to meet remaining borrowing costs and return the 

planned £500k profit contribution to the MTFP by year 3, and the 

profit contributed to the MTFP grows each year so that the £3m 

from earmarked reserves is repaid by year 10. The council has the 

option to vary the repayment of the earmarked reserves should 

Members wish to use all the available surplus to meet savings 

Page 12



9 
 

targets or to prioritise the repayment of external debt in order 

that the Old River Lane Arts Centre becomes affordable again. 

 

The summary business plan results are shown in the table below: 

Subjective 

Analysis 
25/26 26/27 27/28 28/29 29/30 30/31 31/32 32/33 33/34 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
          

Theatre 

Operating 

Surplus 

(1,807) (1,912) (1,986) (2,106) (2,236) (2,280) (2,326) (2,372) (2,420) 

Less:          

MRP and 

Loan Interest 
1,445  1,416  1,386  1,357  1,327  1,297  1,268  1,238  1,209  

Repayment 

of earmarked 

reserves 

  100  249  409  483  558  634  567  

Contribution 

to theatre 

reserve 

        144  

          

Contribution 

to MTFP 
(362) (496) (500) (500) (500) (500) (500) (500) (500) 

 

 

NOTE: It will be imperative that the Theatre is run as a 

commercial enterprise in order for the predicted profit to be 

realised.  

 

4.2               Accept GPFL’s revised GMP omitting the Studio Theatre 

fit out.  

 

NOT RECOMMENDED. This would still require borrowing of 

£4,700,000 and, as identified by the recent review of the business 

Page 13



10 
 

plan, would render Hertford Theatre unable to cover borrowing 

costs or offer a return on investment and would fail to deliver the 

£500k surplus so that has to be added back to the total costs of 

this option as this will mean an additional £500k savings 

requirement from 2025/26 onwards. 

 

In this scenario the theatre would, over a 10 year period, cost the 

council £7.5 million.  Debt charges will be higher as the ability to 

make Minimum Revenue Provision will fall as additional savings to 

be met by the council’s other services. 

 

 

 

The summary business plan results are shown in the following 

table:  

Subjective 

Analysis 
25/26 26/27 27/28 28/29 29/30 30/31 31/32 32/33 33/34 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 

         
Theatre 

Operating 

Surplus 

(1,513) (1,602) (1,670) (1,772) (1,883) (1,920) (1,959) (1,998) (2,038) 

Less:          

MRP and Loan 

Interest 
2,216  2,216  2,216  2,166  2,166  2,116  2,116  2,065  2,065  

Repayment of 

earmarked 

reserves 

         

Contribution to 

theatre reserve 
         

Loss of £500k 

MTFP Saving 
500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 500 

Page 14



11 
 

Pressure to 

MTFP 
1,203  1,114  1,046  894  783  696  657  567  527  

 

Should the council wish to pursue this scenario, officers recommend 

commissioning a consultant to help develop a charitable arm to the 

theatre. Developing a charitable arm to the theatre would widen the 

options for bringing in funding to complete and operate the studio 

theatre. Previously, a study into alternative sources of funding for 

Hertford Theatre was conducted by Kane Moore.  

The Head of Strategic Finance and Property advises Members that 

this is not a prudent option to select.  The loss of income and the 

resulting additional savings will place a huge strain on the ability to 

meet statutory service levels and balance the budget over the 

medium term if a shock event occurs.  The revised savings targets 

are shown in the table below: 

 

 

 

2025/2

6 

2026/2

7 

2027/2

8 

2028/2

9 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Original Savings Target 3,551  3,551  3,855  4,159  

Non-completion of Studio Theatre 

pressure 1,203  1,203  1,064  894  

Revised Savings Target 4,754  4,754  4,919  5,053  

 

 

Given the high risk of the council’s operating environment and the 

potential for real terms reductions in government grant the 

revised savings targets would mean the council would have no 

room for manoeuvre and significantly increase the risk of a 

section 114 report in the public interest having to be issued.  

Page 15



12 
 

 

4.3               Complete the minimum construction required and do 

not open the Theatre until suitable funding can be found to 

complete the fit-out.  

 

NOT RECOMMENDED as this would still require additional 

borrowing to complete and mothball and offers no opportunity 

for Hertford Theatre to cover the cost of borrowing or make any 

return on the council’s investment. In addition to this, it is likely 

that GPFL would take legal action for loss of profit, and 

redundancies would be required for theatre staff, generating 

additional costs for the council. This would create an additional 

saving requirement of at least £2,336,000 for the council. This 

includes the loss of income to the council £500k annually, plus the 

borrowing costs (MRP and interest) In addition to this we would 

need to pay insurance, empty business rates, security patrols 

which would likely increase costs to in excess of £2.7m. The 

savings requirement in 2025/26 would increase to £6.3m.  

 

Considering the net cost of providing services is £21.6 million and 

after deducting: 

a. the increased savings target. 

b. the anticipated cost of the waste and recycling contract. 

c. the grounds maintenance contract. 

d. the parking contract. 

e. the cost of Wallfields and the insurance contract. 

 

There would be around £3.3 million to pay for all other 

services.  In the opinion of the Head of Strategic Finance and 

Property the selection of this option would lead to a section 114 

Page 16



13 
 

report in the public interest being made as the council could not 

meets its financial obligations. 

 

4.4               Do Nothing.  

NOT RECOMMENDED as this would result in a worse scenario 

than mothballing as GPF Lewis will almost certainly take legal 

action against the council as officers would have to stop payment 

due to there being no budget authorisation to make payment.  In 

other words,  pursing this option would precipitate an immediate 

crisis and force the Head of Strategic Finance and Property to 

make a section 114 report in the public interest as, by definition, 

the budget would not be balanced and the council’s contractual 

obligations could not be met.  

 

4.5         Other scenarios 

 

Officers have worked closely with GPFL and Bristow Consulting to 

review a number of potential scenarios to reduce the overall cost 

of the theatre project. The following scenarios were identified but 

not considered possible: 

 

• Removal of one of more cinema screens. This was not 

possible as the equipment for the cinema screens had 

already been purchased and installed. Not operating the 

smallest screen at the theatre would also have resulted in a 

net loss of £4.1 million over 10 years.  This is made up of loss 

of ticket sales, catering and forgoing the expected surplus of 

£500k annually. There would also be no repayment to the 

reserves.  

• Removal of the food and beverage offer. This was not 

possible as the catering equipment had already been 

Page 17



14 
 

procured. Not offering a food and beverage offer at the 

theatre would also have resulted in a loss of profit of £6.4 

million over 10 years as indicated by the business plan. This 

does not take into any associated losses relating to lost 

bookings for the venue due to a lack of Fand B offer.   

 

5.0 Risks: Each scenario has associated risks 

 

 

5.1 Completing the full development of Hertford Theatre (as 4.1) 

Additional funding of £6,095,000 will be required to complete the 

development. It is expected that this will carry reputational risk as 

significant additional funding has already been provided for the 

project which could be seen to be impacting the council’s ability to 

invest in other capital works.  

However, completing the development of Hertford Theatre in full, 

alongside asset sales to reduce overall borrowing, offers the council 

the best and only opportunity to cover borrowing costs of the project 

and begin generating a return on investment. This is essential in 

facilitating other capital works for the council and ensuring that 

savings targets do not become so large that financial obligations 

cannot be met.  The cost of interest and MRP in 2025/26 is forecast 

to be £4.648 million after the £6 million from asset sales and the 

application of MRP balances has been undertaken to reduce the 

overall debt amount. Should the £6 million in asset sales not 

proceed, the revenue costs of servicing debt will increase by £500k to 

£5.148 million.  Unless debt levels are brought down then the 

required savings will come from services either being reduced to the 

statutory minimum or being stopped altogether. 

 

Page 18



15 
 

Members should note that where councils have overreached 

themselves and taken on too much borrowing then the government, 

and any appointed Commissioners, automatically seek to identify 

assets for sale to reduce debt (see Slough Borough Council, Thurrock 

Council, Birmingham City Council and Woking Borough Council 

Recovery Plans). For example, Slough BC have sold £215m worth of 

assets in 22/23 including a cinema and other investment sites, 

Thurrock BC have sold a library, their own civic offices as well as car 

parks,  

Woking BC are considering selling their theatre, while Birmingham 

are considering selling their shares in Birmingham International 

Airport.  

 

Whilst debt is notionally being reduced for Hertford Theatre, to 

ensure the profits from a commercial operation can meet the 

remaining borrowing costs, Members should not see this as a further 

subsidy solely to Hertford.  Servicing Debt is as a corporate cost and 

not attributable to services under the Accounting Code of Practice 

and the Prudential Code.  The key decision for Members is: will they 

accept further borrowing to maximise income, accepting that asset 

sales will be undertaken to reduce the council’s overall borrowing 

levels, thus reducing the revenue costs of servicing that borrowing 

which itself will assist in protecting services.  

 

5.2  Omitting the studio theatre fit out (as 4.2) 

 

Omitting the studio theatre will result in Hertford Theatre not being 

able to cover borrowing costs or offer a return on investment. This 

would further impact the council’s ability to invest in other capital 

works such as the Old River Lane Arts Centre in the future. In this 

scenario, officers recommend the development of a charitable arm, 

Page 19



16 
 

tasked with bringing in external funding to complete and operate the 

studio theatre. The development of a charitable arm to the theatre is 

expected to take up to two years, however, due to the need to 

implement a new governance structure and produce a full year of 

accounts which would be required in applying for a charitable status.  

 

However, delaying the completion of the studio theatre by two years 

is expected to increase the cost of the fit out from £1.3 million to 

over £2 million due to contractor re-mobilisation and the constrained 

site access. This increase excludes increases in inflation and rising 

labour costs. 

 

It is expected that this approach will also carry reputational risk as 

the council will be seen to have already invested significantly over 

the initial budget and have failed to deliver the intended project. 

5.3 Complete the minimum construction required and do not open 

(as 4.3) 

 

This scenario would create significant financial risk as the theatre 

would not be able to operate and begin to pay back borrowing costs 

or offer a return on the council’s investment. Savings requirements 

in 2024/25 would increase to £6.3m. As a result, it is unlikely the 

council would be able to produce a balanced budget in this scenario, 

which could result in a section 114 notice being issued.  

Significant reputational risk is expected as the council would be left 

with an unusable facility which has already received significant 

investment. Further to this, the site would continue to generate costs 

in insurance, security patrols, empty business rates and utilities while 

generating no income. 

5.4      Do nothing (as 4.4) 

Page 20



17 
 

 

Failure to reach a decision on the way forward will effectively result 

in the council rejecting the final GMP offer from GPFL, while 

continuing with full opening and stopping all payments as there 

would be no budget provision.  This would result in GPFL stopping 

work and suing the council for breach of contract.  They would also 

seek the full costs incurred by them, loss of profit and compensation 

for damages. In this scenario it is not possible to provide a concrete 

figure for total costs as the final price would be agreed in court. 

Officers would anticipate GPFL seeking at least £24.43 million, based 

on the final GMP, in costs incurred as well as other compensation for 

other costs and breach of contract. There is also a strong possibility 

that the council may have costs awarded against it, meaning that the 

final figure could be substantial.  As the council has very few reserves 

to cushion against substantial unexpected costs this would almost 

certainly lead to severe in-year spending pressures and the potential 

for the making of a second section 114 report in the public interest. 

6.0 Implications/Consultations 

Community Safety 

No 

Data Protection 

No 

Equalities 

No 

Environmental Sustainability 

No 

Financial 

Financial implications are included in the main body of the report. 

Page 21



18 
 

What is a S114 Notice? 

Within the Local Government Finance Act 1988, Section 114 (3) 

dictates that: “The chief finance officer of a relevant authority shall 

make a report under this section if it appears to him that the 

expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it 

proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources 

(including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure”.  

In general terms this means that for Local Government, it is the Chief 

Finance Officer or Section 151 officer who has the role under law of 

being the most senior financial advisor to the wider Council’s 

leadership on its financial plans. Uniquely across the public sector 

however, the CFO also has the power and responsibility to legally 

suspend spending for a period of time if they judge the Council does 

not have a balanced budget or the imminent prospect of one. 

What Happens when a Section 114 Notice is Issued? 

It means that no new expenditure is permitted, except for the 

funding of statutory services, including safeguarding vulnerable 

people, however existing commitments and contracts will continue 

to be honoured.  

Council officers must therefore carry out their duties in line with 

contractual obligations and to acceptable standards, while being 

aware of the financial situation.  

Any spending that is not essential or which can be postponed should 

not take place and essential spend will be monitored. The only 

allowable expenditure permitted under an emergency protocol 

would include the following categories: 

• existing staff payroll and pension costs 

Page 22



19 
 

• expenditure on goods and services which have already been 

received 

• expenditure required to deliver the council’s provision of 

statutory services at a minimum possible level 

• urgent expenditure required to safeguard vulnerable citizens 

• expenditure required through existing legal agreements and 

contracts  

• expenditure funded through ring-fenced grants  

• expenditure necessary to achieve value for money and / or 

mitigate additional in year costs. 

The s.151 officer is the ultimate decision maker on what spending is 

allowed during this period. 

Councillors have 21 days from the issue of a Section 114 notice to 

discuss the implications at a Full Council meeting and either set a 

lawful budget and cause the Section 114 notice to be lifted or 

request Government assistance.  The Secretary of State has powers 

to appoint Commissioners and direct that all decisions in relation to 

functions that he specifies are taken by the Commissioners and the 

Council loses all powers in relation to those functions.  

Health and Safety 

No 

Human Resources 

Yes – Should the council opt not to open the theatre; the six existing 

Hertford Theatre staff would be at risk of redundancy. 

Human Rights 

No 

Page 23



20 
 

Legal 

Yes – The Head of Legal and Democratic services is a member of the 

project board and has been consulted with comments embedded 

within this report.  

Specific Wards 

Yes – All Hertford wards 

7.0 Background papers, appendices and other relevant 

material 

Appendix A – Non Construction Costs 

Appendix B – Sample Business Plan 

 

Contact Member 

Cllr Sarah Hopewell, Executive Member for 

Wellbeing 

sarah.hopewell@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

Contact Officer 

Colin Bartlett, Interim Head of Operations 

colin.bartlett@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

Report Author 

Helen Standen, Deputy Chief Executive 

helen.standen@eastherts.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 24

mailto:sarah.hopewell@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:colin.bartlett@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:helen.standen@eastherts.gov.uk


PM Budget Budget Spend #1 Spend #2 Baseline 

Budget

Adjustments Total budget Difference 

with PM 

Budget

Items listed in both EHDC PM budget and EHDC finance data

Adams Environmental £53,616 £70,706 £70,706 £27,800 £70,706 £70,706 £17,090

Air Quality Consultants £1,750 £1,750 £1,750 £1,750 £1,750 £1,750 £0

Alan Knight £6,500 £6,500 £0 £0 £6,500 £6,500 £0

an unspecified tree guy £2,790 £2,790 £0 £0 £2,790 £2,790 £0

AOC Archaeology £11,683 £205,281 £204,944 £11,956 £205,281 £205,281 £193,598

AR Watson £2,510 £2,510 £837 £2,510 £2,510 £2,510 Small contractor - unknown scope

Arc Partners £22,600 £8,700 £8,193 £7,903 £22,600 £22,600 £0

Arco Prfessional Safety Service £9,387 £131,377 £131,377 £9,387 £131,377 £131,377 £121,991

Arena Security £0 £0 £4,297 £4,297 £4,297 £4,297

Barker Langham £31,000 £27,000 £27,000 £28,600 £31,000 £31,000 £0

Bennetts Associates £1,263,331 £1,682,551 £1,095,123 £822,091 £1,682,551 £(413,634) £1,268,916 £5,585 Less novated fees

BJ Designs £1,850 £1,850 £1,850 £1,850 £1,850 £1,850 £0

Blue Sky Building £7,750 £7,750 £0 £0 £7,750 £7,750 £0

Bristow Johnson £510,888 £500,687 £427,282 £250,764 £510,888 £366,500 £877,388 £366,500 Add fee claim

BSB Construction

£7,750 £7,750 £0 £7,750 £7,750 £7,750

Small structural contractor - unknown 

scope

Cheap Storage Hertford £2,760 £2,760 £7,560 £7,560 £7,560 £7,560

Citzens Design Bureau £10,000 £10,000 £0 £0 £10,000 £10,000 £0

Clancy Consulting £3,935 £3,935 £10,930 £10,930 £10,930 £10,930

Combined Heating Solutions £1,290 £1,290 £1,290 £1,290 £1,290 £1,290

Decontamination UK Ltd

£399,880 £101,200 £101,200 £399,860 £399,880 £(21) £399,860 £(21)

Based on final account - assumed fully 

paid

Delta Green Environm £20,900 £30,720 £20,900 £20,900 £30,720 £30,720 £9,820

Delva Patman £10,549 £9,556 £9,556 £10,549 £10,549 £10,549 £0

EA Contractor?? £5,500 £5,500 £0 £0 £5,500 £5,500 £0

EHDC Planning fees £15,464 £15,464 £10,000 £0 £15,464 £15,464 £0

Elecosoft  UK Ltd £880 £670 £670 £880 £880 £880

Emery £1,327 £1,327 £4,078 £4,078 £4,078 £4,078

Environment Agency £892 £446 £0 £0 £892 £(446) £446 £(446) Double counted

Fabrik £1,115 £1,115 £2,790 £2,790 £2,790 £2,790

Form Project Management £139,000 £307,632 £307,632 £82,178 £307,632 £307,632 £168,632

Glantre (not certain) £24,158 £12,079 £0 £30,817 £30,817 £(12,079) £18,738 £(5,420) Double counted

GMJ £18,900 £18,900 £18,900 £8,350 £18,900 £18,900 £0

Ground Tech £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 Duplication with below

Groundtech £12,335 £12,335 £12,335 £0 £12,335 £12,335 £0

Groundwise £288 £288 £0 £0 £288 £288 £0

Hann Tucker £1,100 £1,100 £1,100 £1,100 £1,100 £1,100 £0

HCC £15,660 £7,600 £7,600 £0 £15,660 £15,660 £0

HCE

£210,000 £192,517 £0 £0 £210,000 £0 £210,000 £0

Uplift to original allowance to meet 

summary allowance

Hemmingway Design LLP £78,850 £92,169 £20,926 £20,926 £92,169 £92,169 £13,319

Herts County Council £10,000 £16,660 £16,660 £4,460 £16,660 £16,660 £6,660 Assumed CCTV budget

Integral £5,000 £5,000 £0 £0 £5,000 £5,000 £0

Intelligent Catering £26,325 £40,734 £20,080 £15,374 £40,734 £40,734 £14,409

J K Caulfield & Sons £5,000 £5,491 £5,491 £5,491 £5,491 £5,491 £491 Assume Car Park Survey allowance

Maltby Land Surveys £22,150 £22,150 £22,150 £22,150 £22,150 £22,150 £0

Max Fordham £2,250 £2,500 £2,500 £2,500 £2,500 £2,500 £250

Met Geo £6,560 £3,280 £3,280 £3,280 £6,560 £6,560 £0

Montagu Evans £54,389 £56,898 £56,898 £43,580 £56,898 £56,898 £2,509

NSG Security £1,404 £8,620 £8,620 £0 £8,620 £8,620 £7,216

PFB £12,125 £27,701 £27,701 £9,545 £27,701 £27,701 £15,576

Portal Plan Quest Ltd £10,164 £10,164 £0 £10,164 £10,164 £10,164

Power Point Tech Services £53,323 £53,323 £1,820 £53,323 £53,323 £53,323

Pure Choice Catering £98 £98 £98 £98 £98 £98

RBS £4,016 £4,016 £4,016 £4,016 £4,016 £4,016

Soil Consultants £22,430 £22,430 £22,430 £18,930 £22,430 £22,430 £0

Stantec £4,462 £4,462 £4,462 £0 £4,462 £4,462 £0

Statutory Fees £26,375 £26,375 £0 £26,375 £26,375 £26,375

Temple Group £1,010 £1,010 £1,010 £1,010 £1,010 £1,010

The Ecology Consultant £8,885 £6,535 £6,515 £1,900 £8,885 £8,885 £0

Theatre Projects Con

£22,750 £24,750 £15,700 £15,000 £24,750 £24,750 £2,000 Assumed Compliance Team Monitoring

Total Energies £1,262 £1,262 £1,262 £1,262 £1,262 £1,262

Turpin Smale Catering £21,519 £4,263 £4,263 £4,263 £21,519 £21,519 £0

UKPN £83,608 £86,461 £86,461 £86,461 £86,461 £(3,264) £83,197 £(411) Cost plan adjustment advised by EHDC

Vectos £26,196 £62,127 £62,127 £19,829 £62,127 £62,127 £35,931

WPS Compliance £2,880 £2,939 £2,939 £2,939 £2,939 £2,939 £59

Xpertex Ltd £47,123 £0 £0 £47,123 £47,123 £47,123

0

Items listed in EHDC PM budget but not listed in EHDC finance data 0

0

Loose Fixtures & Fittings £272,000 £272,000 £272,000 £0

EA Permit See above See above See above

Stats diversions £30,000 £30,000 £(30,000) £0 £(30,000) Cost plan adjustment advised by EHDC

0

EE mast relocation £0 £0 £0 £0

Weir controls works £33,021 £33,021 £33,021 £0

UKPN works See above See above See above

Specialist loose equipment

£898,547 £898,547 £(536,000) £362,547 £(536,000)

Cost plan adjustment advised by EHDC of 

£(536,000) not included here

Other non-construction costs See above See above See above

UKPN transformer See above See above See above

Other statutory services £0 £0 £0 £0

Hertfordshire CCTV partnership See above See above See above

Adam environ See above See above See above

Stage Equip removal and storage See above See above See above

Asbestos removal See above See above See above

£0

Further utility costs £35,000 £35,000 £35,000 GMP offer excludes utility costs

0

Contingency £300,000 £73,310 £73,310 £(226,690) Added risk allowance of £73k

Totals £4,758,121 £4,032,385 £2,964,255 £2,033,137 £5,681,857 £(520,634) £5,161,224 £403,103

ReviewContractor NotesEHDC Data

Page 25



PM Budget Budget Spend #1 Spend #2 Baseline 

Budget

Adjustments Total budget Difference 

with PM 

Budget

ReviewContractor NotesEHDC Data

Items listed in EHDC finance data but not listed in EHDC PM budget

Affinity Water Ltd £6,445 £6,445 £6,445 £6,445

Bloom Procurement Services Ltd £198,936 £198,936 £198,936 £198,936

BT Payment Services Ltd £20,212 £20,212 £20,212 £20,212

CADENT GAS LIMITED £(2,704) £(2,704) £(2,704) £(2,704)

Cadent Gas Ltd £2,704 £2,704 £2,704 £2,704

EDF Energy 1 Ltd £105 £105 £105 £105

EDF ENERGY CUSTOMERS LTD £227 £227 £227 £227

Fitzpatrick Woolmer Design & Publishing £17,364 £17,364 £17,364 £17,364

Hertfordshire Building Con /Broste River £5,300 £5,300 £5,300 £5,300

Kate Lyons £500 £500 £500 £500

Keeble Container Services Ltd £1,240 £1,240 £1,240 £1,240

Power Point Systems Ltd £50,573 £50,573 £50,573 £50,573

Speedy Asset Services Ltd £168 £168 £168 £168

Tetra Tech Ltd £1,650 £1,650 £1,650 £1,650

TOC Recycling Ltd £1,400 £1,400 £1,400 £1,400

We are Bulbruin t/a St Albans £699 £699 £699 £699

Total £4,758,121 £4,032,385 £2,964,255 £2,337,957 £5,986,677 £(520,634) £5,466,043 £707,922

Increase to cost plan budget of £4,069,000 £689,121 £1,917,677 £1,397,043

Page 26



Document is Restricted

Page 27

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 34

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 41

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Hertford Theatre Options
	Appendix A
	EXEMPT-Hertford Theatre BP v6_1 Base Case All venues open
	EXEMPT-Hertford Theatre BP v6_1 Variant 1 Studio Theatre not opened
	EXEMPT-Hertford Theatre BP v6_1 Variant 2 Cinema 3 not opened


